
WORK SESSION OF JANUARY 8, 2013                  
 
Mayor Cosgrove called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: Mayor Cosgrove, Deputy Mayors Baratta and Trawinski, Councilmembers 
Peluso and Swain. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Manager Metzler, Assistant Municipal Clerk Bojanowski and Attorney 
Mondello. 
 
CLOSED SESSION RESOLUTION:  
 
Upon motion by Deputy Mayor Baratta and a second by Councilmember Swain      
the following closed session resolution was unanimously adopted at 7:31 p.m. 
 
 WHEREAS; the Open Public Meeting act of the State of New Jersey permits 
the public to be excluded from certain matters to be discussed by the Governing 
Body; and 
 
 WHEREAS; the Mayor and Council of the Borough of Fair Lawn desire to 
discuss Pending Litigation – Modlin v. Fair Lawn, Columbia Bank;  and  
 
 WHEREAS; these matters are ones which permit the exclusion of the public 
from such discussions; and 
 
 WHEREAS; minutes will be taken during this closed session and once the need 
for confidentiality no longer exists the minutes will be available to the public. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Borough 
of Fair Lawn that the public be excluded since these matters as set forth above are 
ones which permit the exclusion of the public from such discussions.  
 
Mayor Cosgrove reconvened the Work Session at 7:53 p.m.   
 
IMPROVEMENTS TO WALSH POOL – PRESENTATION BY ALL SPORTS ASSOCIATION 
 
Mayor Cosgrove reported that he and Councilmember Peluso met with Fair Lawn 
All Sports Association and the Fair Lawn Football Association to discuss a master 
plan for Walsh Pool.  This project is not funded and no cost information has been 
received.   
 
Jeff Mazzola, President of All Sports, Oliver Wilhelm and Michael Aversa, Treasurer 
were present.   
Mr. Mazzola stated that between All Sports and the Football Association there are 
1,000 athletes from ages five through 8th grade who are playing sports in both the 
spring and fall season.  There is a constant struggle for field space.  With the 



Page 2 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

exception of the area that will be utilized for the skate park, the rest of the Walsh 
Pool area is available.  They presented a plan which included a small sided, multi-
purpose soccer field that could also be used for football and another 
baseball/softball field.  He noted that when Dobrow Complex was first proposed it 
was an uphill battle and there were many obstacles, but it has been a great 
addition to the community.  It is viewed by other towns as one of the best 
complexes in Bergen County in terms of availability, space and multi-function use.   
 
Mr. Wilhelm explained that the skate park is the size of a tennis court.  There is 
almost two acres of land available along Harristown Road and Elm Street, which 
would allow them to expand to include fields that would house practice facilities 
for every sport.  The plan moves the playground away from the trees and closer to 
the refreshment building, where they could add a patio for eating and watching a 
baseball game.  It brings the entire community together and allows them to utilize 
the back area of Dobrow Complex.  They felt that this was an improved use of the 
land and the sports program.   
 
Mayor Cosgrove stated he explained to All Sports and the Football Association 
that the Borough did not have the funds to do this project, but wanted their input 
as tenants of the facility.  He could not tell them whether the plan would take a 
year, five years or ten years based on budget constraints.  He asked if they had 
any cost estimates to present.  Mr. Wilhelm explained that part of the area was 
elevated, so they would have to cut the hill so that the grades were the same.  He 
needs to obtain surveys and soil borings with regards to drainage.   They would also 
need to determine whether the fields should be grass or Astroturf.  A full sized 
soccer field costs $1 million dollars to complete, but their cost would be less 
because it is a smaller field although there would also be a baseball field.  The 
Skate Park can be used as “phase one” while they start developing funding 
strategies.  Mr. Mazzola stated that Glen Rock formed a committee to raise funds 
for a similar project, which they would use as their model.  Until they have more 
details this is very preliminary idea. 
 
Mayor Cosgrove explained that he and Councilmember Peluso met with All Sports 
and Fair Lawn Football because they did not want to put the skate park in a 
location where it would have to be moved if this plan came to fruition.    
Councilmember Peluso stated that this plan utilizes all the space, and puts the  
skate park and playground in the center so parents can watch one child’s game 
and also watch another child at the playground.  He thought it was a great plan 
and thanked All Sports for putting it together.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that 
he was fine with the concept, with the clear understanding that the Council does 
not have the funding for this project at this time.  He suggested checking with the 
Open Space Committee to see if they support revising the Open Space 
Recreation Inventory to include this project.   
 
Councilmember Swain asked about moving the playground.  Mr. Wilhelm stated 
that the playground was difficult to get to and was located between trees.  Mr. 



Page 3 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

Mazzola stated that the location made sense when the pool was open because 
parents could sit on the beach and watch a child in the water and at the 
playground.  Parents attending games, however, would not let their children go off 
by themselves to the playground.  Councilmember Swain noted that the skate 
park became a problem because it was originally located next to a playground.  
Deputy Mayor Baratta explained that parents of younger children did not want 
them playing next to older kids because their language was not always 
appropriate.  Mr. Mazzola stated that there would be a buffer area.  If the skate 
park was ever removed, the area could be made into a basketball or street 
hockey court.   
 
Manager Metzler stated that one reason they suggested moving the skate park to 
Walsh Pool was the proximity to Harristown Road and the clear visibility to Police 
from the road.  The preliminary drawings they received from the ADA Committee 
were designed so that when people were at the refreshment stands there was a 
clear line of site to that facility.  When a cost analysis is put together they would 
need to address what type of fence and protection would be installed along 
Harristown Road so baseballs don’t end up in the road.  Mr. Wilhelm stated that 
Harristown Road is four or feet higher, which creates a berm where people can sit 
and watch the game.  The fence will never be high enough and there will no 
doubt be a ball in the road at some point.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that 
having the skate park at Walsh Pool will not present the isolation that existed at 
Warren Point and there will hopefully be more adults around to encourage more 
acceptable language.   
 
Manager Metzler stated that they have already applied for and received one 
extension on the skate park grant, with the condition that it be in place by July 1st.  
They will have to request another extension because filling in Walsh Pool is taking 
longer than anticipated.  Since it was All Sport’s intention to relocate the 
playground, he urged them to speak to Superintendent Graff since it might be less 
expensive to budget for a new playground.  He wondered if the Council could get 
an Open Space grant for half the cost would they be fundraising to provide the 
balance or were they hoping that Council used Capital funds.  Mr.  Mazzola stated 
that they have not reached a formal decision.  They were thinking of doing 
fundraising and grant applications.  He was going to speak to Glen Rock and 
follow their model.  Mr. Wilhelm stated that this could be done in phases.  Manager 
Metzler stated that if the Council was going to support this concept they needed 
to include Superintendent Graff.  They also needed to make decisions on the skate 
park.   
Mayor Cosgrove stated that they wanted to partner with everyone, put together a 
master plan and proceed from there.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that Capital 
Alternatives can help them explore grant opportunities.  Mayor Cosgrove 
reiterated that he stressed to All Sports that there wasn’t any funding available but 
they should discuss options and partner together.  Councilmember Swain asked 
about parking, since people often have to park across the street.  Mr. Wilhelm 
acknowledged there is a problem on weekends when there are simultaneous 



Page 4 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

events.  Mr. Mazzola said they could stagger events.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski 
suggested moving the electric underground to free up a few parking spaces, 
although the cost benefit may not be there.  Manager Metzler asked if the field 
would be lighted.  Mr. Wilhelm stated that some of the lighting would come from 
the lights adjacent to Zuckerman Field, but they would probably add another light 
pole and extend the electric to cover the area around Elm Street and Harristown 
Road.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski indicated that he would prefer more lighting 
because of the skate park.   
 
Mayor Cosgrove thanked the representatives from All Sports for coming. 
 
REVIEW OF TENTATIVE AGENDA 
 
Deputy Mayor Trawinski asked about Ordinance 2258-2013 for Receipt of Funds.  
Manager Metzler explained those funds were for the pocket park on George 
Street.   
 
COUNCIL LIAISON REPORTS 
 
Councilmember Swain reported that 130 people attended the ADA Dance.  Every 
dance has been well attended.  There were four high school students from the 
National Honor Society who helped out and danced with the guests. The January 
dance was a New Year’s theme and the March dance will celebrate St. Patrick’s 
Day.     
 
She attended a show at the Fair Lawn High School Planetarium, which was very 
interesting.   They are very lucky to have that program. 
 
The One Pound at a Time Campaign was launched at the First Day 5K Run/Walk.  
She and Manager Metzler discussed a fundraiser campaign where people donate 
money as a result of Manager Metzler’s efforts to reduce his weight.  The proceeds 
would help residents in Little Ferry and Moonachie.  If there is consensus she will 
discuss this further at the next Green Team meeting on January 16th.  Manager 
Metzler stated there would be a public weigh in and people would pledge an 
amount for each pound lost.  They are trying to start a program where they adopt 
a home in Little Ferry or Moonachie, do fundraising between now and April to help 
rebuild a home.  Councilmember Swain stated that since one portion of the 
program is to reduce waste, she would like to get an analysis of where they are 
with regular garbage and recycling.  Manager Metzler stated that the information 
can be found in their monthly report.    
 
Councilmember Peluso stated that Alliance for Substance Abuse Prevention 
discussed the Good Samaritan Bill introduced by Assemblywoman Wagner.  Lt. 
Bastinck and Officer O’Brien were present and they were very supportive of this 
legislation.   
 



Page 5 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

The Garden Committee is starting to plan for the spring.  If anyone is interested in 
joining the group they can send them an email.   
 
Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that the Planning Board Reorganization meeting is 
Monday night.  They are being asked to consider a conceptual drawing from the 
developer for re-integrating the affordable units in Landmark.  He viewed it as a 
starting point with the developer.   
 
He is involved with the Passaic River Advisory Group, which is holding a meeting at 
the Lyndhurst Senior Center at 250 Cleveland Avenue on January 17th at 6:00 p.m.  
The group will consider the EPA’s pre-design proposal for cleaning up the 17 mile 
stretch from Passaic at Newark Bay to the Dundee Dam, which is one of the most 
polluted areas.  This is important because as that area gets de-silted there is more 
capacity in the lower Passaic for towns up river.  The removal plan can be viewed 
at www.ourpassaic.org.   
 
Deputy Mayor Baratta did not have a report. 
 
Mayor Cosgrove stated that he will be attending a Property Maintenance meeting 
tomorrow, followed by a Fire Board meeting.  The Fire Department Dinner will take 
place on Friday and the Adopt-a-Soldier Platoon Dinner is Saturday night at the 
Community Center at 7:00 p.m. 
 
PROPOSED REVISION OF TOWING ORDINANCE 
 
Attorney Mondello stated that he was working with Traffic Safety Officer Franco on 
the ordinance, but needed more time.  He asked that this ordinance be placed 
on a future agenda. 
 
VETERANS & VOLUNTEERS COALITION 
 
Manager Metzler reported that they received several inquiries from Fair Lawn 
residents about the status of the program, but he has not received an offer or any 
guidance from the County.  Freeholder Ganz responded to a resident’s email on 
which he was copied by referring the resident to the County program, which offers 
many of the same benefits.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that he will give 
Manager Metzler the phone number for Rich Dahl, the coordinator of the County’s 
Veteran’s Program. 
 
Councilmember Peluso asked how long it would take to get the program running 
again if they did not join the County program.  Manager Metzler stated that it 
would take two to three weeks, since they must verify the discounts with vendors 
and reissue the cards.  He believed many of the vendors were still accepting the 
cards even though they have expired.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that he 
spoke to Freeholder Ganz’s aide in December.  He suggested Manager Metzler 

http://www.ourpassaic.org/


Page 6 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

send an email to Rich Dahl, copying him and Deputy Mayor Baratta so they can 
follow up.   
 
Councilmember Swain suggested putting extension stickers on the cards until a 
program was worked out.  Manager Metzler stated that it wasn’t fair to assume 
that all the vendors wanted to extend their offers.  Councilmember Peluso 
suggested waiting until the next Work Session to see if they there is any progress 
with the County.  If not, he felt they should go back to doing the program in house 
as it is something the veterans deserve and appreciate.  Manager Metzler agreed 
with scheduling this item for the next Work Session.  He will make it a priority to get 
in touch with the director of the County’s program.   
 
PASSAIC RIVER LITIGATION 
 
Councilmember Swain asked for consensus to support S2094 and A3128.  In 2009, 
Fair Lawn was joined as a third party defendant in litigation seeking contribution for 
the alleged discharge of hazardous substances into the Passaic River and Newark 
Bay.  This legislation entitles them to seek protection from financial liability.   
 
There was unanimous consensus to support S2094 and A3128. 
 
ANIMAL CONTROL 
 
Attorney Mondello explained that this was originally scheduled for Closed Session 
because of pending litigation and numerous violations issued to the dog owner.  
He advised Manager Metzler as a precautionary measure to RICE Tracy Coates, 
the Animal Control Officer because they anticipated that some procedural 
aspects of the vicious dog act may or may not be discussed.  Ms. Coates 
requested that this matter be discussed in open session, but he expressed concern 
that any discussion in open session will negatively affect the pending litigation.  He 
asked that this item be removed and placed back into Closed Session, with the 
understanding that there will be no discussion regarding the Animal Control officer.   
 
Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that his understanding was that a RICE notice was 
required if they were going to take adverse or detrimental action and there was 
no indication that such action against the Animal Control Officer would occur.  He 
did not see how they could discuss this matter without discussing the Animal 
Control Officer, although they would not do so in an adverse manner.   
 
Councilmember Swain asked for clarification about this matter.  Attorney Mondello 
explained that two dogs attacked another dog and a resident, leaving both 
seriously injured.  He reiterated his concern that public or negative comments 
could affect the case and put the State and the Prosecutor in precarious 
situations.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that he was willing to discuss this matter 
in Closed Session provided there was no adverse discussion about the Animal 
Control Officer.  He restated his belief that they were not in violation of the RICE 



Page 7 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

requirements, and asked to be shown where it states that a RICE notice must be 
issued anytime an employee is discussed.  Attorney Mondello stated that he read 
the requirements six times; he respectfully disagreed.   
 
There was consensus to move this item to Closed Session, with the understanding 
that the Animal Control Officer will not be discussed in an adverse manner. 
 
Ms. Coates asked if this matter was going to be discussed this evening.  Mayor 
Cosgrove informed her that they were going to discuss the incident but would not 
discuss her in a negative manner.   
 
UPDATE ON RESIDENT SURVEYS 
 
Manager Metzler stated that 10,467 surveys were sent to property owners and they 
received 2,240 back, which was a 21.4% return.  He distributed and explained 
several charts.  He noted that the numbers would not always add up to 2,240 
because not everyone answered every question. 
 
Although the majority of the respondents were 55 years of age and older, many 
supported the programs and parks offered by the town for the next generation.  
The majority did not use the mini bus, but they overwhelming supported keeping 
the service for a fee.  He asked for the Council’s permission to release this 
information through the website and media.   
 
Councilmember Swain noted that 25% of the people who completed the survey 
were 75 years of age or older.  Manager Metzler stated that when they read 
through the survey there will be the question “how often do you use recreational 
facilities” with many residents responding “never”, but when asked “how important 
are recreational facilities to Fair Lawn” they overwhelmingly supported it.  There 
were a tremendous number of comments which will be distributed in a later report.   
 
Deputy Mayor Baratta asked Manager Metzler if he was going to have the survey 
results certified.  Manager Metzler stated that he was.  The surveys have been 
posted to a data base with addresses.  They will randomly have individuals come 
in, pick ten of the surveys, give the address and verify the answers as accurate.  
 
There was unanimous consensus to authorize Manager Metzler to post the survey 
results on the website and release it to the media.   
 
NO SMOKING IN PARKS 
 
Attorney Mondello stated that Councilmember Peluso had reached out to Senator 
Gordon to see if anything could be done legislatively, as there was concern about 
a violation of the no smoking in public places ordinance remaining on a person’s 
record for five years.  He suggested they hold off on this matter until they learn if 
anything can be done.  Councilmember Peluso stated that Attorney Mondello has 



Page 8 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

been working very hard on this project and Senator Gordon’s office will be looking 
to see how they can interpret the different statues.  They were not pushing this off 
but rather want to be sure they covered all the areas.   
 
Councilmember Swain read a section that stated “State law also supports the 
passage of municipalities and county-wide smoke free parks’ policies”.  She went 
on to say that “local parks and recreational areas are already required by State 
law to be 100% smoke free during school district activities”.  She felt that an 
ordinance would align with the State law to protect youth and adults from second 
hand smoke.  Attorney Mondello stated that he was in contact with Senator 
Gordon’s office and the Office of Legislative Services to obtain their opinion.   
 
There was unanimous consensus to wait and see what Attorney Mondello learns 
from Senator Gordon regarding this statute.             
 
REVIEW OF RFQ – TAX APPEALS COUNSEL 
 
Assistant Municipal Clerk Bojanowski stated that the RFQ’s were previously 
distributed to the Council for review.  Councilmember Swain asked why two 
candidates, including current Tax Appeals Attorney O’Hara did not provide 
references.  Mayor Cosgrove stated that Tax Assessor Henderson had indicated 
that he was happy with the services being provided.   
 
Upon motion by Deputy Mayor Baratta and a second by Deputy Mayor Trawinski, 
there was consensus to retain Tax Appeals Attorney O’Hara, with Councilmember 
Peluso and Councilmember Swain dissenting.     
 
Councilmember Swain stated that she could not support his appointment as 
information was missing from his RFQ.  Deputy Mayor Trawinski stated that the fact 
that Attorney O’Hara had a year of service and there was a recommendation 
from Assessor Henderson more than sufficed as a reference.   
 
MISCELLANEOUS PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Howard Mark, 12-23 Ferry Heights stated that there appeared to be a 
misunderstanding between himself and Deputy Mayor Trawinski.  Deputy Mayor 
Trawinski stated that there was no misunderstanding.  He informed Mr. Mark that he 
could contact Legal Services for help with his legal dispute as there was nothing 
the Council could do.  Mr. Mark found it disgraceful that the Bergen County 
Prosecutor did not do his job many years ago. 
 
Mr. Mark stated that he was happily surprised by the result of the survey.  He 
agreed that parks and many of the programs were important for the town, even 
though he personally did not use them.   
 



Page 9 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

Cathy Aliotta, 23-05 High Street stated that she called the Manager’s office to 
inquire when the results of the survey would be available, and was advised to call 
back in two weeks or longer because things were delayed because of Super 
Storm Sandy.  Manager Metzler stated that the document presented to Council 
this evening was approved at 4:15 p.m. this afternoon.  There was the hope that 
the final tabulation with the comments would be ready in two weeks but he did 
not think that was going to happen.  He told Ms. Aliotta that she could stop by his 
office and obtain a copy of the report; otherwise, it should be online shortly.   
 
Joan Goldstein, 12 Bedford Place thanked Manager Metzler for participating in the 
One Pound at a Time Campaign.  There are many things they can do to help other 
people such as donating the clothes that no longer fit because of weight loss.  She 
thanked everyone for helping to launch this program at the First Day 5K Run/Walk.  
She was very excited about the program and urged everyone to participate.     
 
Richard Siebel, 33-07 Halsey Road stated that the County Tax Board warned 
against rejecting tax appeals on technicalities because of new laws in effect.  He 
felt there was camaraderie between the Tax Board and Tax Assessors and that 
they frequently throw out appeals that deserve lower tax values.  Deputy Mayor 
Trawinski stated that they do not have any say whatsoever over the County Tax 
Board, which is strictly controlled by Trenton.  The statute applies solely to the 
County Tax Board and not to the local Assessors.   
 
Mr. Siebel stated that he would be willing to pledge $5.00 for every pound 
Manager Metzler lost.  He warned about consuming fructose because recent 
studies indicate that it spurs overeating and leads to obesity.   
 
He stated that there is talk about instituting a five cent per bag tax at the 
supermarkets.  He felt the tax should not be limited only to supermarkets.  
Councilmember Swain clarified that the tax would be in effect at other stores as 
well.  This legislation has been approved in other states.   
 
CLOSED SESSION RESOLUTION:  
 
Upon motion by Deputy Mayor Trawinski and a second by Deputy Mayor Baratta, 
the following closed session resolution was unanimously adopted at   
9:03 p.m. 
 
 WHEREAS; the Open Public Meeting act of the State of New Jersey permits 
the public to be excluded from certain matters to be discussed by the Governing 
Body; and 
 
 WHEREAS; the Mayor and Council of the Borough of Fair Lawn desire to 
discuss Pending Litigation – Bolkin v. Fair Lawn; Personnel – Appointments: Rent 
Leveling Board, Update on Construction Official, Deputy Fire Marshall Position;  



Page 10 Work Session January 8, 2013 
 

Animal Control – Dog Attack; Contract Negotiations – Update on Blue and White 
Collar Association; and 
 
 WHEREAS; these matters are ones which permit the exclusion of the public 
from such discussions; and 
 
 WHEREAS; minutes will be taken during this closed session and once the need 
for confidentiality no longer exists the minutes will be available to the public. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Borough 
of Fair Lawn that the public be excluded since these matters as set forth above are 
ones which permit the exclusion of the public from such discussions.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Upon motion by Deputy Mayor Baratta and a second by Deputy Mayor Trawinski, 
the Work Session was adjourned at 9:50 p.m. 

             
      
 
 
     Respectfully submitted, 

             
      ________________________________________                            
      Marilyn B. Bojanowski, RMC  
      Assistant Municipal Clerk     
                  

The undersigned have read and approve the foregoing minutes.  
 
 

________________________________________           
Mayor John Cosgrove 

 
 

 
                                                         _________________________________                              
Deputy Mayor Jeanne Baratta                           Councilmember Kurt Peluso 
 
 
                                                            __________________________________  
  Councilmember Lisa Swain           Deputy Mayor Trawinski 


